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            CHAPTER ONE

            KNOCKERS

         

         THE LETTER ARRIVED IN the chambers of a federal judge in Baltimore in the summer of 2017. It had been sent from the McDowell Federal Correctional Institution, which was nestled in the middle of nowhere, West Virginia, more than six hours from Baltimore. On the front of the envelope, the inmate had written: “Special mail.”

         Umar Burley had written his letter on lined notebook paper, in neat, bouncy print, using tildes to top his T’s. Burley, inmate number 43787-037, was reaching out to the judge for a second time, begging for a court-appointed lawyer. His attorney had retired, and attempts to reach another had gone unanswered.

         “Could you imagine how hard it is to be here for a crime I didn’t commit and struggling to find clarity and justice on my own?” Burley wrote.

         Months earlier, Burley had been in the recreation hall of a federal prison in Oklahoma, awaiting transportation to McDowell, when someone called to him: “Little Baltimore! Little Baltimore! Did you see that?” News from home flashed across the television screen: A group of eight Baltimore police officers had been charged with stealing from citizens and lying about their cases. The officers had carried out their alleged crimes undeterred by the fact that the police department was at the time under a broad civil rights investigation following the death of a young Black man from injuries sustained while in police custody. The revelations were breathtaking, though not entirely unbelievable: For years, accusations of misconduct—from illegal strip searches to broken bones—had been leveled against city police. But many claims lacked hard proof and came from people with long rap sheets and every incentive to level a false accusation. Such toss-ups tended to go in favor of the cops. With the deck so stacked against them, most victims didn’t even bother to speak up. Often, they did have drugs or guns, and the fact that the cops lied about the details of the encounter or took some of the seized money for themselves, well, in Baltimore, it was a dirty game in which the ends justified the means.

         But now a wiretap case back home was shining a light on the culture of the force, and the federal prosecutors who brought the charges were looking for more victims. And Umar Burley had a story to tell.

         
            *

         

         BURLEY’S STORY BEGINS ON the morning of April 28, 2010. Members of a plainclothes police squad had been summoned for an ad hoc roll call on the street. Their sergeant, running a little late, told them to stay put. But Detective Wayne Jenkins felt the itch. He told the others that the area around Belle Avenue, in Northwest Baltimore, was “hot” with reports of criminal activity.

         “Let’s go,” Jenkins said.

         You can tell some police officers to stand under a pole for ten hours. Check nine hours later, they’ll still be there. Send them to Greenmount Avenue and order them to walk up and down the boulevard, and they’ll pace until the soles of their shoes begin to wear thin. But others need to get into something. They want to sit in vacant houses peering through binoculars or chase suspects through alleys; they work ungodly amounts of overtime. These are the “10 percent” whom commanders in the Baltimore Police Department (BPD) rely on to get the job done.

         These are also the officers most likely to make up the plainclothes units known around town as “knockers” or “jumpout boys,” a reference to their aggressive tactics. Officers in plainclothes units often operate in the shadows of a police department. Their work is not to be confused with undercover operations, in which police officers assume a different identity and worm their way into a criminal organization. Plainclothes officers, as the description suggests, work in street clothes rather than uniforms. They drive unmarked vehicles. They are not typically tethered to specific posts or obligated to respond to 911 calls. Instead, they go out looking for illegal activity—people selling drugs or displaying bulges under clothing that could be guns—and they operate with a great deal of independence. They can let a suspect go if they think the suspect can lead them to bigger fish. Across the country, these plainclothes squads have often been where scandals are born, but police department leaders over the years have deemed them critical to the crime fight—they are the “Vikings” who go out into the field and return with a “bounty,” as one Baltimore chief would later put it.

         Jenkins seemed perpetually in motion, and his gung-ho attitude quickly won the white former marine early entry into the BPD’s most elite units. By 2010, less than seven years into his time on the force, Jenkins had worked his way into a new “violent repeat offender” squad, a handpicked group of officers whose charge was to go after Baltimore’s worst offenders. They would often be given names of elusive suspected criminals and allowed only thirty days to build their best case.

         They headed to Grove Park, a leafy neighborhood on the city/county border featuring single-family homes and a constellation of apartment buildings connected by paths and lined with cherry trees. As Baltimore neighborhoods go, it was decidedly different from the dense, abandoned row home neighborhoods closer to the city core, but it was not without crime. From their unmarked cars, the officers would later write in court paperwork, they spotted Umar Burley sitting in his Acura in the 3800 block of Parkview Avenue when another man walked up carrying what appeared to be cash and climbed in. “At this time, due to my training and expertise, I believed a narcotic transaction was possibly taking place,” Jenkins would write.

         Jenkins was riding with Detective Ryan Guinn, a half-Irish, half-Vietnamese cop whose appearance nevertheless prompted people in the neighborhoods where he worked to call him “Puerto Rican Yo.” Guinn reached for his radio. 

         “Hey Sean,” he said in a low calm voice, addressing Sean Suiter, another member of the squad riding in a separate car. “We’ll try to stop this Accord.”

         “I got you. I’m with you,” said Suiter.

         The officers moved in for an arrest, with Jenkins and Guinn pulling in front of Burley’s car, and Suiter taking up the rear. Their emergency lights were activated, Jenkins wrote in the charging papers, and their badges were “clearly displayed.” He said the officers saw movement in the vehicle and ordered the men to show their hands. Guinn jumped out of the car and drew his gun, ordering Burley not to move. Burley maneuvered his car around the police vehicles and raced out of view.

         “Hey, we got one running,” Guinn radioed to the other officers, Jenkins’s voice audible in the background. “By Seton Park Apartments. Black Acura.”

         He called out the license plate: “One-Frank-Young-King-Zero-Eight.”

         The chase lasted less than a minute. Burley made it less than a mile down the road when the officers heard a loud crash. It sounded like a bomb going off, and when they arrived at the intersection of Belle and Gwynn Oak avenues, they saw water gushing out of a fire hydrant that had been struck. The front bumper had come away from the car; the hood was mangled. The officers wondered how badly the men inside were hurt, when suddenly they bolted out. Guinn gave chase after the passenger, Brent Matthews, while Jenkins and Suiter took on Burley.

         An onlooker called 911, relaying a scene that did not appear to involve police officers.

         “A car crash. Belle and Gwynn Oak. A guy—they’re running, trying to shoot each other!”

         “You said they’re trying to shoot each other?” the 911 operator asked.

         “Yes—the car’s into a fire hydrant, they jumped out, they started running, one with a gun.”

         Burley was caught by Suiter about fifty feet from the crash site. “Why did you pull off?” Suiter asked, according to Burley. “Why didn’t you just see what we wanted?” 

         “All you had to do was put on your lights,” Burley responded.

         Guinn caught the passenger, and a struggle ensued. He was able to overpower the man and walked him back to the scene in cuffs.

         “The shit’s in the car,” Jenkins told Guinn.

         Along with a patrol officer, Suiter searched Burley’s vehicle and picked up a baggie on the floor containing thirty-two grams of heroin.

         It would take a moment for those at the scene to take stock of the damage. But they soon realized that the boom the officers and neighbors had heard wasn’t from the collision with the fire hydrant. It was the sound of Burley’s car first smashing into a Chevrolet Monte Carlo being driven by an elderly couple passing through the intersection. That car had been thrown into the air and over a row of bushes.

         A neighbor, who had been making breakfast when the crash shook his house, ran outside to the injured couple. The man was bleeding from the head; the woman was crying for help. “Hold on, help is coming,” the neighbor told them.

         Elbert Davis Sr., eighty-six, and his wife Phosa Cain, eighty-one, had left that morning to visit one of their ten children. The couple was taken downtown by ambulance to the University of Maryland Shock Trauma Center for treatment; Guinn followed to check on their condition and later said he was at the nurses’ station when he heard Davis flatline. He went into Cain’s hospital room and held her hand. She asked Guinn if her husband was okay. “They’re doing everything they can,” Guinn told her, seeking to calm her until the doctors could deliver the news.

         Back at the scene of the crash, Joyce Fuller, a sixty-two-year-old woman whose home had been struck by the vehicle, denounced the fleeing men who’d been involved in the crash.

         “I’d like to take all of these drug dealers and put them in a cargo plane and take them to Iraq,” she told reporters. “That couple hadn’t done anything. It’s just so unfair.”

         
            *

         

         BURLEY, FORTY, WAS HEADED back to prison. He had spent years in the game, with a record of prior drug arrests dating back to age thirteen, when he had taken a charge for a beloved uncle. He also had the rare distinction of having beaten a prior federal gun charge: In 2007, he’d been pulled over on the pretext of “exceeding the lawful amount of window tint.” The arresting officer said he had smelled alcohol, reached down for a cup in the vehicle, and seen the butt of a handgun sticking out from under the armrest of the bench-style seat. Police would later say Burley and the other man in the car “had to have known” the weapon was there and would charge them both with possessing the one gun. Burley spent just shy of a year and a half locked up on those charges, first on a bail he couldn’t afford to post, then on federal pretrial detention, only to be released when the other guy took responsibility for the gun and the case against Burley was abandoned.

         This time, in addition to drugs, Burley would be charged with manslaughter. The crash might have been an accident, but fleeing police with drugs made it criminal. The drug charge was taken federal, a second bite at the apple for an office that had dropped the earlier case against Burley. He was ordered held without bond while awaiting trial.

         But Burley swore to his court-appointed attorney that there had been no drugs in the car that day. He had been picking up Matthews on the way to attend the sentencing hearing of a man convicted of killing Burley’s cousin. Burley, who had been shot twice before, said the officers had startled him when they boxed in his vehicle and pulled their guns. He had panicked, he said, and fled.

         Burley’s lawyer told a judge that his client disputed “much of Detective Jenkins’ statement of probable cause.” He said the detectives had seized and arrested Burley without legal basis and were justifying their actions by the after-the-fact discovery of drugs.

         “Alleged law enforcement observations of an African American entering a parked car with money in a high crime area do not add up to probable cause,” Burley’s attorney wrote. Burley pleaded not guilty and was held pending trial.

         Guinn later said he thought nothing of the men’s assertion that the drugs were planted. Arrestees denied the charges against them all the time.

         But Jenkins seemed obsessed with the case. Officers are able to listen in on calls inmates make from jail, and Jenkins was glued to the calls of Burley and his passenger, Matthews. They were telling others that the heroin had been planted.

         “If this case goes to trial,” Jenkins told Guinn, “I can’t testify.”

         The bar that Burley needed to clear for acquittal was ultimately too high—he was a repeat offender, driving on a revoked license, and he had killed an old man while fleeing police officers who said they found heroin in the vehicle. A plea deal was worked out in which he received ten years’ federal time on the drug charges; in state court, where the manslaughter charges were still in play, he received another ten years, the maximum. With no trial, the officers involved wouldn’t have to discuss the case in court, and Burley was shipped off to prison.

         Seven years later came a plot twist in what looked like a closed case. Burley appeared once again in a courtroom in Baltimore. This time he was being freed early, with a federal judge stepping off the bench to personally apologize and shake his hand. Meanwhile, Wayne Jenkins would soon be sent to a penitentiary in the desert outside of Tucson, Arizona, to serve a twenty-five-year prison sentence. And Sean Suiter lay crumpled in a West Baltimore alley with a bullet in his head.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER TWO

            WHATEVER IT TAKES

         

         THE CITY OF BALTIMORE had been shrinking and struggling for most of Wayne Jenkins’s life.

         After a postwar boom in the 1940s, Baltimore’s population peaked at nearly one million, but with the desegregation of public schools in the mid-1950s—and the expansion of streetcars and highways to the city’s perimeter—white families began to flee the urban center for bigger yards and more homogenous communities. This white flight intensified with the rise of crime and unrest in the 1960s, culminating in riots that followed Martin Luther King’s death in 1968, which left one thousand Baltimore businesses looted or damaged, and six dead and seven hundred injured. In 1950, the city had been 76 percent white; by the time Jenkins was born in 1980, that share had fallen to 44 percent. Meanwhile, the total population continued to decrease—falling below eight hundred thousand by 1980.

         A month before Jenkins’s birth in June 1980, the city had opened Harborplace, a shopping complex built on the formerly decrepit waterfront, to great fanfare celebrating it as the centerpiece of the city’s downtown revival. Longtime mayor William Donald Schaefer was determined to reverse Baltimore’s downward trend and focused relentlessly on boosting the city’s tourism and sense of pride. “There was no question we had to build pride in a city that had none,” Schaefer said in 1979. “To make it so people wouldn’t be so ashamed to say they are Baltimoreans.” And yet the flight would continue—fifty thousand more residents would leave the city over the course of the 1980s.

         Jenkins grew up in Middle River, a bedroom community east of the city that hugged the northern neck of the Chesapeake Bay. It had grown as a receptacle of white flight and as a result of its proximity to several of the major industrial sites in the area: the Martin Aircraft plant, right in Middle River, which had employed fifty-three thousand during the war; just to the south, the massive Bethlehem Steel in Sparrows Point, which by the mid-1960s was one of the largest steel plants in the world with thirty thousand employees; and General Motors, just inside the city’s eastern border, employing seven thousand people.

         The community was quiet and close-knit, sustained by the steady jobs at these factories and others. Some cops lived in the neighborhood, with their take-home cars visible in their driveways. But in the years following Jenkins’s birth, the inner-suburban stability began to fray as deindustrialization took hold across the city. General Motors and Bethlehem Steel alone cut twelve thousand jobs between 1978 and 1982. Beneath Middle River’s clean-cut, All-American veneer, a hidden drug culture took root, spreading from the city that most of its families had escaped. It burst into public view in 1987 when two pregnant sisters and their husbands were shot execution-style in a house on Jenkins’s street during a robbery of seventeen pounds of marijuana. Still, this kind of violence was rare, and so in turn were police crackdowns.

         Jenkins was the youngest of five—three siblings as well as two cousins taken in by his family. His father, Lloyd “Lee” Jenkins, a former marine, often wouldn’t get home until late at night after working at the Beth Steel plant and at his second job moonlighting as a handyman. Not only was Wayne the youngest child, he struggled with a speech impediment that required therapy. Perhaps this helped foster a certain toughness. “Wayne didn’t take shit from no one,” recalled Andy Janowich, who lived four doors down and remembered him sticking up for other kids. “I was always smaller; Wayne would take up for me. He wasn’t going to go looking for a fight,” but he was always quick to defend others. Janowich recalled Jenkins was given boxing gloves at a young age.

         Jenkins attended Eastern Technical High School, where he was in a vocational program for heating, ventilation, and air conditioning. Eastern Tech was a well-regarded school, one of only eleven across the state designated as a “Blue Ribbon School of Excellence.” Though it drew from some of Baltimore County’s poorest areas, the school achieved excellent ratings in every category on the state’s report card.

         Jenkins developed an unlikely bond with an art teacher, Bob Brent—unlikely, because Brent was not one of Jenkins’s teachers but rather had an open classroom during a period when Jenkins was often booted from a welding class held next door. Brent offered a refuge and said Jenkins would appear upset with himself after getting in trouble for mouthing off in class. “Not being his teacher, he and I could sit down and have a one-on-one human being conversation,” Brent recalled. “My impression was that he wished he could take back what he did, but he seemed to have a pattern of recidivism with those kinds of behaviors.” Brent recalled hearing that Jenkins’s “home life was a little tough.”

         Jenkins played two sports: lacrosse and football. He didn’t start on either team but had a strong enough work ethic that the other players called him “Rudy,” after the walk-on player at Notre Dame whose extra effort earned him an opportunity to play in his last game as a senior. The football coach, Nick Arminio, recalled Jenkins as a hard worker who played on special teams. “I think he wanted to belong to part of the team and be a part of something,” Arminio said.

         At Eastern Tech, Jenkins began dating Kristy Myers. In his senior yearbook quote, he thanked his mother and father, along with Brent and another teacher, and told Kristy he loved her. He concluded with a sense of accomplishment at graduating: “I did it.”

         A few months later, on August 24, 1998, Jenkins followed in his father’s footsteps and entered the Marines. After basic training, he was stationed in Camp Lejeune, a sprawling waterfront training facility in Jacksonville, North Carolina. He connected with a fellow Baltimore-area native named Patrick Armetta, and they became roommates. They had different styles: Armetta in those days liked to party, but Jenkins was a poster boy for the military with his razor-sharp creases and polished boots—a “squared-away marine.” “He would always be the guy saying, ‘Dawg, you gotta shine those boots,’ ‘You gonna put a hot rock [an iron] on that uniform?’ Wayne was always that person who stuck out,” Armetta recalled. He said Jenkins in those years had bad knees, sometimes tumbling to the ground when they were running in formation, but always kept going. In 2000, Jenkins reached the rank of corporal and specialized in driving tactical vehicles and transporting cargo. His sergeant remembered him, almost two decades later, as having “the utmost flawless character that I’ve ever ran into over my twenty years of serving this great country.” The sergeant said Jenkins was a “shining example of the type of quality leader the Marine Corps creates.”

         Jenkins was perhaps most focused, though, about making the four-hundred-mile return trip home to see his family and Kristy as often as possible, offering to pay for gas and drive Armetta’s car.

         Jenkins left the Marines with an honorable discharge on August 15, 2001, one month before 9/11. The timing was life-altering: Had he stayed, he might have been launched into the war on terror, perhaps deployed to a combat zone. Instead, for the next year, Jenkins toiled away in menial jobs, laying tile and working as a line operator at a factory in Dundalk. When a tropical storm flooded the neighborhood, Jenkins showed up at the local volunteer fire company with a boat. “This is my community,” he said. “How can I help?”

         He was finished with the military but still wanted to serve, so he began applying for police jobs. Jenkins was rejected by the Maryland State Police in 2002 because he “failed to meet testing standards,” though the precise reason is unclear. He turned his attention to the Baltimore police force. In the interview process, he admitted to some minor indiscretions, like smoking marijuana a handful of times as a teen and getting arrested for jaywalking once in Myrtle Beach. He got a “C” on his psychological evaluation. But the recruiter marveled at Jenkins’s poise in his interview: “Applicant was by far the most polite applicant that I have ever had the opportunity to talk to. With every answer that he gave, it followed with either ‘yes sir’ or ‘no sir.’ He was very respectful. You could tell that he was very interested in the career.” 

         He was ultimately accepted and joined the department as a cadet in February 2003. His military pedigree and toughness were on full display in the training academy, according to members of his class. Jason Rathell, another recruit, recalled the class going to watch him box competitively one night. Dan Horgan, an Air Force veteran selected as the class commander, said Jenkins, who stood five-foot-eleven with a slim build and chiseled jawline, was “a fighter, literally and figuratively. He loved to box; his mentality was your typical marine…. Let’s get this done, but we’re going to do it 100 percent. Nothing was 10 percent.”

         Jenkins was entering a police force that had seen constant leadership changes at the top and was trying to adopt new enforcement strategies. The nationwide crack epidemic saw violent crime in Baltimore rise by 53 percent from 1985 to 1993, and the city experienced more than three hundred homicides every year of the 1990s even as its population was declining. In the first half of the decade, the agency’s struggle to reduce crime came against a backdrop of a hiring freeze and new morale challenges. Officers reported that the proliferation of drugs and a breakdown in internal discipline saw a rise in thefts by officers: “With drugs the way they are, there’s so much cash around. It’s hard for guys to see all this money out on the street and stay conscientious,” one officer told The Baltimore Sun.

         Meanwhile, New York City and its leaders had become national stars in the nineties for slashing crime using tough police tactics based on the “broken windows theory” that “disorder and crime are inextricably linked.” Baltimore’s commissioner in the late 1990s, a West Coast transplant named Thomas Frazier, warned that the policies were “one iota away from harassment and discrimination” and that in Baltimore using them would be like “trying to push a tennis ball through a garden hose.” But a charismatic young councilman with national aspirations named Martin O’Malley wanted those New York crime stats for his city. In his successful campaign for mayor in 1999, he pledged to clean up ten notorious drug corners in the first six months of his administration and make low-income neighborhoods as safe as wealthier communities. Not content to merely duplicate New York’s policies, he imported some of its personnel, such as NYPD’s rising star deputy commissioner Ed Norris, whom O’Malley named commissioner in 2000. Norris was a cop’s cop and had no interest in being “a social worker with a gun,” as Frazier had called himself once. “We’re the police,” Norris said. “We’re supposed to be protecting the public. If we don’t actually make the city safer and a thousand people a month continue to leave, there will be no tax base to support any city services. So I think that crime reduction is our primary mission.”

         Black political leaders had concerns about the implications of the new approach, sparked in part after a member of the Maryland House of Delegates said he had been pulled over for “driving while Black.” There was fear such incidents would become more prevalent under the new policing style. O’Malley met with twenty Black state legislators and members of the city council to assure them that crime fighting and accountability would go hand in hand. “We cannot hope to have effective policing unless we have a police department with integrity and one that is willing to police itself,” O’Malley told them.

         To help him, the mayor recruited the architects of New York’s statistics-based crime fighting program, called CompStat, and asked them to do a top-to-bottom analysis of Baltimore’s police department. Their eventual 152-page report, issued in April 2000, quoted residents saying police seemed unwilling to take on drug dealers, and officers saying they felt unsupported in their mission. The report also made this startling finding: In a survey of the 3,200 officers on the force, nearly a quarter said they believed the number of officers stealing money or drugs was greater than a quarter of the department. During the first three years of O’Malley’s tenure, the police department’s internal affairs unit ran more than two hundred stings in hopes of catching unethical officers in the act. Only four officers failed such an “integrity sting,” a department spokesman said. “We have not come across that sort of beehive’s nest of every officer on a shift in a particular precinct [involved in corruption], like they had in New York, where they had a couple of celebrated cases,” O’Malley said in 2003.

         That same year, during Jenkins’s first months as a trainee, Keith Gladstone and Thomas Wilson, two officers he would later work with, were reprimanded by a federal judge, U.S. District Court Judge Andre Davis, who tossed out two cases in which he determined that the officers had carried out unlawful searches. Davis angrily described the police affidavit in one case as “packed with knowing lies.” He said he “almost fell out of my chair” when he read that the officers had handcuffed the suspect and driven him back to his apartment, where they used his key and entered without a warrant. In the other case, the officers arrested a man and then went to his mother’s West Baltimore home at 4 A.M. asking permission to search her residence. Such a move would never be tolerated in the city’s wealthier white communities, he said.

         “Where are they learning this stuff?” said Judge Davis. “It’s sad. We deserve better.”

         The federal prosecutor on the case backed the officers, saying they were good cops who were getting unfairly questioned in their pursuit of bad guys. “I guess we are just looking through different prisms at the same evidence,” the prosecutor told Davis. “Where you see misstatements in the warrant as being evidence of perhaps a lack of veracity by the police, I look at it more as this was a function of police acting in a hasty fashion, being inexact—that being the function of an overworked group of police in a city with 60,000 addicts.”

         The judge disagreed. “They are not making cases,” Davis said. “They’re not building investigations…. They are just making arrests. They are just making seizures.”

         Though mistakes by officers were often forgiven internally, a dressing down from a federal judge was rare. It was supposed to carry weight. In some places, it could derail an officer’s career. But in Baltimore, it was more often a speed bump.

         Court records suggest that Gladstone and Wilson were briefly sidelined in the months after the hearing. Wilson was involved in just three arrests in the four months after Davis’s remarks. Over the next eight months, however, he was back on the streets and made a staggering 230 lockups. Gladstone continued to work with an elite federal task force.

         Jenkins’s academy class graduated in November 2003, and his first assignment was walking a beat on Monument Street—the main street of East Baltimore, with a commercial strip that ran east from Johns Hopkins Hospital and bisected dense row home communities. Horgan, the recruit class commander, said the new officers’ early experiences were eye-opening: “The open-air drug markets were ridiculous,” he said. “You’d roll through an alley and see forty people hanging in the backyard of a vacant [building], waiting for ‘testers.’ Then they’d see you and scatter. Where else does that happen? It was almost like shooting fish in a barrel.”

         The police department was now on its second commissioner recruited from New York City, Kevin P. Clark. Mayor O’Malley was touting the third-largest decline in crime in the country, but there were questions about whether statistics were being juked, and the city had barely moved the needle on the homicide number. Commissioner Clark arrived vowing to drive open-air drug dealing indoors. The first prong of his attack was to train more undercover detectives to make drug purchases, so they could testify in court about personally buying the drugs as opposed to simply describing what they believed to be a transaction. The second prong was to constantly harass suspected drug dealers by citing them for petty offenses, like loitering. One night, with a reporter in tow, Clark urged a group of plainclothes officers to give citations to several young men sitting against the wall of a vacant building. Clark assumed the men were drug dealers. The officers resisted, saying they couldn’t write a citation because they hadn’t given the men a prior warning. “Write the violation!” Clark yelled.

         This wasn’t just going after drugs for the sake of going after drugs, officials said; drugs underpinned much of the continuing street violence. In the fall of 2002, the city had been stunned by a firebombing that wiped out an entire family of seven—Carnell, forty-three, and Angela Dawson, thirty-six, and five of their children. A twenty-one-year-old neighbor, upset that Angela Dawson had called the police about drug dealing on the block, had kicked in the front door and doused the first floor with gasoline. The five children and Angela had one funeral—six caskets, each topped by flowers and a photograph of the deceased. Carnell died a week later. “You think you have purchased half of us and intimidated the rest of us, but you are as foolish as you are cruel,” O’Malley said during the service, speaking of the drug dealers. “As long as Baltimore remembers the Dawsons, we will never surrender to your hate…. The fight is not over. Love and justice will have the final word.”

         The turmoil in Baltimore would only get worse.

         In December 2003, shortly after Jenkins joined the force, Commissioner Clark’s predecessor, Norris, was federally indicted for abusing an off-the-books spending account while he was commissioner. He would plead guilty and be sentenced to six months in prison. Then, a year later, Clark himself was ousted by O’Malley, with his office raided by SWAT team members following a row over a domestic violence investigation.

         About that time, in 2005, an underground DVD entitled Stop Fucking Snitching, in which people who spoke to police were called “rats” and “bitches,” started circulating on the streets. Featuring a cameo by NBA star and Baltimore native Carmelo Anthony in the background of one scene, it gained widespread attention. The makers’ stated message praised a code of honor among thieves, in which hustlers would do their time instead of taking down others along the way, but officials fretted about the implications as the title was put on T-shirts and as thousands of pirated copies spread beyond Baltimore.

         In one scene of the video, a man complained that drug dealers who worked a particular corner in West Baltimore weren’t “catching cases,” or being arrested, because they had two Baltimore police officers looking out for them.

         “Word is they work for King and Murray,” the man said. “Don’t nobody go to jail.”

         William King and Antonio Murray were partners working in the department’s public housing unit, feared by drug dealers for their willingness to bend the rules. One of their targets was a seventeen-year-old whom they provided with drugs on the condition that he split the profits with them. Eventually they told him he would have to help bring down other dealers or he would face consequences. Feeling the squeeze, he decided he wanted out of the arrangement and went to the FBI. In a sting operation, agents placed a bag of fake crack cocaine in an alley in the West Baltimore neighborhood of Harlem Park and watched the officers pick it up.

         At their trial, King testified that after he received training from police officials in New York, he changed the way he submitted evidence. It was tacitly approved within the department to let people go who provided information, or even to give them drugs and money to keep them working and providing information. 

         “Sometimes you submit the [seized drugs and money],” King said. “Sometimes you don’t.”

         The practices were widespread in Baltimore and used by officers under pressure from their bosses to get results, he asserted. Federal prosecutors trying the case, and police officials who testified, insisted no such techniques were allowed.

         King and Murray were convicted by a federal jury on nearly three dozen charges, including extortion, drug conspiracy, and handgun violations. King’s sentence, mandated by federal sentencing guidelines, was 315 years and one month behind bars. Murray received 139 years.

         City officials treated the case as an aberration, however, and continued to swat away claims of misconduct within the force. The aggressive policing philosophy had translated to more arrests; by 2005 it would result in over 100,000 lockups in a city of about 630,000 people. Prosecutors were declining to prosecute one in three cases at the point of arrest. One man that year told The Baltimore Sun that police had arrested him five times in a three-month span, within a two-block radius of his home. He said he had been taking the trash out when police arrested him during a drug sweep; another arrest was for “loitering” in front of his house. “How do you get arrested in front of [your] own house for loitering?” he asked.

         City officials rejected the criticisms. “Let me be clear,” O’Malley, who was reelected in 2003 with 87 percent of the vote, told residents at a boisterous community forum in January 2006. “We do not now, nor do we ever, encourage arrests for the sake of arrests. Nor have we, nor will we ever, encourage or turn a blind eye to the abuse of police powers, or arrests made outside the bounds of the Constitution.” But former officers recall a culture that was aggressive about racking up stats. Former officer Eric Kowalczyk remembered attending roll calls in various districts early in his career where commanders gave directives such as “Lock up every swinging dick,” “No free passes, everybody goes,” and “Clear those corners. I don’t care how you do it. Get it done.”

         “The message from up on high was clear. Do whatever it took to stem the tide of violence. Whatever. It. Took,” Kowalczyk wrote in his 2019 book, The Politics of Crisis. An officer with a strong grasp of the law could justify all types of lockups. Another ugly truth, he said: Arresting everybody could actually be effective—at least for the short-term gains the department was looking for. “The violence drops, the homicide number goes down. Replicate this belief across an entire department and you can easily see how in one year we made more than 100,000 arrests.”

         In 2005 alone, Jenkins is listed in court records as having been personally involved in more than four hundred arrests, sometimes a half dozen in a single day.

         One Saturday night in early October 2005, Tim O’Connor was out watching football with a friend, slinging back drinks at the Brewer’s Hill Pub in Southeast Baltimore. Eventually, O’Connor was asked by the bartender to leave because he’d had too many. Outside on the sidewalk, his friends tried to coax him up the street, causing a minor commotion. A group of police officers, including Jenkins, who were at a Royal Farms convenience store across the street made their way over to see if they needed to intervene. Jenkins’s supervisor, Sergeant Michael Fries, knew O’Connor from an adult soccer league where they both played. For no reason in particular—other than that he was sloshed—O’Connor yelled at Fries.

         “Fuck you, Mike Fries,” he said. “You ain’t shit.”

         O’Connor was pulled to the ground from behind. One officer held a nightstick across his chest, while Jenkins jumped on top of him, punching him in the face. “It was like taking a hammer to the face,” O’Connor later testified, slamming his fist into his palm three times. “I couldn’t protect myself.” Blood spilled from his eye. “It was a pain I’ve never felt before in my life,” he said. His orbital bones were fractured, requiring surgery and causing him to miss extended time from work.

         His friend called for an ambulance, and O’Connor was taken to the hospital, where his wife called the police to report what had happened. Jenkins and Fries hadn’t made a report of their own or called for medical assistance. When a lieutenant from the Southeastern District showed up to take a report, he asked O’Connor what had happened. “Mikey Fries and the Baltimore City Police Department did this to me,” O’Connor told him. 

         In 2006, O’Connor sued Jenkins and Fries for damages. When the case went to trial two years later, the officers said they had no idea how O’Connor had gotten hurt; they had had their backs turned when someone else must have hit him. And they hadn’t called for help, they claimed, because O’Connor’s friends had waved them off and wanted to just get him home.

         Jenkins appeared engaged but nervous at the defense table throughout the proceedings. He wore a slightly oversized dress shirt and a tie. He joked to the jury that he got dressed up only for court and funerals. On the witness stand, however, he transformed. Confident and indignant, he pushed back at questions from O’Connor’s attorney, Domenic Iamele, who accused Jenkins of being a “professional witness” experienced with manipulating jurors. Iamele said he had noticed Jenkins trying to work one female juror in particular. Jenkins turned and smiled at the jury, drawing laughs from them as he raised his hands in a “Who, me?” pose.

         “You tried catching me all day, and you can’t, because I’m telling the truth,” Jenkins told Iamele. “You didn’t catch me in nothing.”

         Despite his performance, the jury found in favor of O’Connor and awarded him $75,000. Taxpayers footed the bill. But nothing was added to Jenkins’s personnel file, and he appeared to suffer no consequences.

         A few months after the O’Connor incident, in January 2006, Jenkins and Fries were patrolling McElderry Park, a small neighborhood a few blocks east of Johns Hopkins Hospital. They passed a couple of men, brothers Charles and Robert Lee, sitting on the stoop of their grandmother’s home and drinking beer. Police hadn’t received any complaints, but the officers told them to go inside. When Jenkins and Fries circled back around later, the men were still there. Police authority was being challenged. Charles Lee started to walk into the home, but Jenkins charged after him and pulled him back out. They tumbled down the front steps and onto the sidewalk. Lee’s brother, who was watching the scuffle, was also taken down.

         “All this happened over nothing,” Charles Lee later recalled. The two police officers “came over because they had nothing else to do.”

         A passerby, George Sneed, stopped to watch the altercation. Suddenly, another officer, Robert Cirello, who had arrived on the scene, ran toward him. Sneed took off. Cirello caught up to him, slammed him to the ground, and broke his jaw.

         Sneed sued. At trial four years after the incident, the officers’ story was that Sneed had been throwing bottles and yelling profanities at them from across the street while they were trying to bring a tense situation under control. “I saw defendant Sneed throw a bottle,” Jenkins said in a deposition, “[then] another bottle, and that was winged at us. Winged at us. I mean, it had velocity. It was flying at us. As a patrol officer pulled up and officers exited, I instructed them he was under arrest.”

         “He’s yelling fuck you, I’ll kill all you police, fuck you bitches,” Fries added.

         Sneed’s attorney had pulled video from the street corner, however, and it showed no such thing. Sneed had walked up and stood calmly, arms at his sides and watched what was unfolding, until Cirello charged him.

         “In light of this evidence plainly demonstrating the officers’ testimony is untrue,” Sneed’s attorney, Michael Pulver, wrote in a court filing, “the trier of fact could easily determine that the officers fabricated this story to hide the fact that they intentionally assaulted and falsely arrested and imprisoned Mr. Sneed.”

         Although the jury found against Cirello—since he was the one who assaulted Sneed—Jenkins was cleared. But for the second time he appeared to have been caught in lies. Once again, his personnel file remained clean.

         Sneed’s attorney Pulver was a former Baltimore County prosecutor—he had tried the sextuple murder case that occurred on Jenkins’s block in the 1980s. He said he inherently trusted police but what he saw on surveillance footage of the Sneed assault disgusted him.

         “They’re just treating these people like animals,” Pulver said. “And it was over drinking beer on the step. They run into this guy’s house—hot pursuit of a beer drinker? They were in this mode of: There’s no minor offense. Everything, we enforce. We’re the law, and in their minds, they’re doing patrols in Afghanistan.”

         Cirello, who has since left the police force, now admits that the assault on Sneed was unjustified. The officers at the scene “ordered me to fuck him up.” 

         “So I fucked him up,” Cirello said.

         When Fries was promoted into the department’s elite Organized Crime Division around 2007, he sized up his officers and decided that only Jenkins merited being promoted—the others were “worthless” and “didn’t meet the standards” of the unit, he said. Jenkins, on the other hand, was “the best officer I had working under my command.”

         Jenkins’s personal life was prospering as well. In late 2005, he and Kristy, who had been living together and then had gotten married the previous December, purchased a small split-level home for $289,000. It was not far from Jenkins’s parents’ place, in a residential neighborhood near the Gunpowder River and a state park—a good place to raise a family as he ventured into the city to do battle.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER THREE

            BAD GUYS WITH GUNS

         

         A SHIFT IN POLICING strategy in 2007 would lead to the creation of a new unit: the Gun Trace Task Force.

         The uptick in arrests was wearing on the long-frayed relationship between police and the community, without making the impact on killings that officials had envisioned. Martin O’Malley’s goal of lowering the yearly number of homicides to 175 hadn’t even been approached, and when he moved to the governor’s mansion in Annapolis, gun violence was surging toward levels not seen since the 1990s, with the city on track to top 300 homicides yet again. The Sun ran a daily homicide count in a box on the front page. The acting mayor, Sheila Dixon, fired the police commissioner and replaced him with Frederick H. Bealefeld III, a veteran of Baltimore’s narcotics and homicide units.

         Bealefeld had been running the department for months, and Dixon said she was impressed with his tough questioning of police commanders during intelligence meetings. “We will make this city safe,” Bealefeld said at a news conference. “The people of this city have high expectations of their leaders in the Police Department, and they should. I don’t take it lightly. The citizens demand action, and the mayor expects results.” He said he wanted to see officers “engaging gangbangers, not sitting in their cruisers.”

         Bealefeld wanted the department to focus more on guns and those who carried them. For too long, he said, police had been pursuing drugs, which was a crapshoot. Yes, drugs were tangled up with violence, but judges, inundated with such cases, were devaluing them because they couldn’t tell which ones mattered. He wanted his officers to make fewer arrests but to go after the right people. He moved the department away from the zero tolerance policies of his predecessors, and arrests began to decline significantly. The department eventually settled a lawsuit brought by the ACLU and NAACP over zero tolerance policing, in which the city formally denounced the tactic.

         Instead, police said they would focus on “repeat, violent offenders” who had been flagged for multiple serious crimes. Bealefeld insisted that police weren’t going after everyone in Baltimore anymore, just those “bad guys with guns” who toted illegal firearms. They were the ones most likely to shoot someone, and to be shot.

         To prove he was interested not just in fighting crime but in improving the quality of the police department, Bealefeld made a major push to emphasize training. The centerpiece of that effort was a program called Diamond Standard training, intended in part to drill into officers that they would need the help and respect of the people they served. Officers were sent to the training together as a shift, taken off the street for a month.

         On the street, though, the department was aggressively pursuing its campaign against “bad guys with guns.” The man put in charge of day-to-day operations was a West Baltimore native named Anthony Barksdale, who got into policing to clean up his grandfather’s neighborhood. He became a disciple of the imported New York policing leaders preaching CompStat’s philosophies of putting “cops on dots”—places where crime was known to historically occur—and ensuring accountability. Barksdale believed that tough policing was necessary and that, with rigorous oversight through the city’s own Comstat program, the department could also police itself. At the same time, Internal Affairs was siloed away, and if it couldn’t make cases against officers with complaints, the operations side would keep trotting them out. “Your harder working cops will get complaints. Some guy is going to say you did this, or you did that to him. That’s part of the job. The guys who aren’t afraid of that will rack up complaints. You have to sort out: are these good cops or bad cops,” Barksdale recalled later. “Hearing things isn’t enough; we have to make an actual case.” “There was so much pressure—political pressure, social pressure, internal pressure—to do something about the murder rate that it became all-encompassing, and everything else slipped,” added John Skinner, who became a commander in 2001 and retired as a deputy commissioner in 2014.

         The agency put nearly three hundred of what it viewed as its best detectives into a new plainclothes unit called the Violent Crimes Impact Division. These were, in the eyes of leadership, their top flight officers, the upper 10 percent who worked hard and got results. The department, with help from academics, analyzed historical crime patterns and determined the areas of the city that, year after year, were plagued by the highest rates of gun violence. Instead of being shuttled around as crime flared up in different areas, they were ordered to stay in those zones and clamp down.

         Shootings and killings began an immediate downward trend. Not only was the seemingly inevitable mark of three hundred homicides not reached in 2007, but within three years the number of people killed would dip below two hundred for the first time since the early 1980s. Major cities across the country had been seeing such declines for years, but Baltimore had been an outlier. Suddenly, a safer city seemed possible—even if the underlying sociological factors, the true bellwethers of progress, weren’t keeping pace. Baltimore hadn’t added thousands of jobs or made significant inroads on addiction. Was the crime drop a mirage, or had the department found a better way to police that could curb violence in the face of the city’s deeply entrenched challenges?

         While various categories of crime were declining, one concerning trend appeared: Police shootings spiked, from fifteen in 2006 to thirty-three in 2007—more than departments in Philadelphia and Washington, and only one fewer than in Los Angeles, a city of 3.8 million people. And while every shooting was investigated to determine if it was a legally justified use of force, there was no review for whether the officers complied with department rules and whether they followed training that could have prevented the shooting from occurring in the first place. Officers were often sent right back into the field after a shooting. “I don’t want 2,900 scarecrows dressed up in police uniforms,” Bealefeld said after one shooting by an officer. “I want people who are going to go out and do their jobs.”

         The city’s top prosecutor at the time, Patricia C. Jessamy, was concerned enough about the department’s general ability to police its own that she created an internal “do not call” list of cops who were known by her office to have integrity problems but who remained on the job. Her office refused to call them as witnesses, effectively forcing the police department to sideline them: Police could continue to let the flagged officers roam the streets, but their cases would be immediately pitched. Police brass and the union fumed.

         Though such lists exist now in other cities, Jessamy may have been the first. Police “went years without any trial boards and refused to take any complaint of wrongdoing seriously,” Jessamy, who was the chief prosecutor from 1995 until 2010, recalled later. “It was the only card I had to play…. This was my own solution to a very serious officer credibility problem.”

         The department pushed its gun-first priority through a number of initiatives, such as “GunStat” meetings where officials reviewed gun seizure cases and discussed the creation of a gun offender registry, which would require people convicted of gun offenses to register their address with the city, subjecting them to check-ins to ensure compliance with gun-possession and other restrictions.

         Another signature program was the creation in 2007 of a unit called the Gun Tracing Task Force (GTTF). One of the inaugural members was Detective Ryan Guinn. At the time, he was investigating shootings, robberies, and other serious crimes out of the city’s Southern District, where he had started his career as a drug cop and built up a strong network of informants. Guinn enjoyed the pace of the district detective job and the freedom to more methodically assemble cases. One day he was pulled aside in the headquarters parking garage by his sergeant, who said Commissioner Bealefeld had a new assignment for them.

         “It’s the mayor’s baby—it’s going to be a new task force with us [and] neighboring jurisdictions,” the sergeant told him. 

         “We’re not doing street rips and shit, are we?” Guinn asked.

         “Nope, no street rips,” the sergeant said. “That’s an order.”

         Soon Guinn was in Bealefeld’s office with others who had been tapped for the squad. Bealefeld reiterated to them that the work was to be focused and deliberate, then directed them to a sixth-floor office where a group of state troopers was ready to get to work with them. The Maryland State Police had sent some of their best to take part in the GTTF as well, including a trooper who had worked executive protection for the governor, and another who had been recognized for his bravery after being wounded in the line of duty. The Baltimore County Police and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms were also providing officers.

         The task force’s mission was to trace guns back to distributors and straw purchasers. Instead of prowling neighborhoods and taking one gun out of circulation at a time, they were going to seize weapons in bunches by tracing them to the people who were putting them onto the street. The work would take them around the state, whether executing raids on the Eastern Shore or on a pawnshop just outside the city in Glen Burnie.

         “We were like one big unit,” Guinn recalled, “and we went everywhere.”

         In its first full year, the task force was getting big results through fewer but more deliberate investigations, seizing 268 guns through just forty-one arrests. After they took down a gun dealer who had executed an illegal sale at a gun show, the weapons they seized were spread out at a table at a news conference with mayors from around the Mid-Atlantic region, including New York City mayor Michael Bloomberg.

         
            *

         

         JENKINS HAD BEEN THRIVING in the aggressive atmosphere of the plainclothes enforcement units. He had been working regularly alongside other detectives who went on to federal task forces, the pinnacle for plainclothes officers. Asked on the stand in one trial about what type of training he had to go through, Jenkins responded that he had learned by doing and by studying under other officers whom he considered “legends,” such as Mike Fries and Keith Gladstone: “They’ve got more narcotics seizures in their careers than any narcotics officers,” he said. “On a consistent basis, they’re getting ‘weight.’ When I say ‘weight,’ I’m talking large-scale seizures of marijuana, large-scale seizures of cocaine, seizures of hundreds of grams of heroin.” Jenkins claimed that he was now carrying the torch: “I constantly, on a regular basis, get the largest seizures in our unit. On a regular basis.” In early 2009, he and another detective who would later go on to work with the Drug Enforcement Administration found forty-one kilograms of cocaine—worth $3 million—in the back of a flatbed truck. “To get a 41-kilo seizure, that’s extraordinary by anyone’s measure,” Commissioner Bealefeld said at a news conference with the packaged bricks lined up on a table. It was considered the largest cocaine seizure without federal assistance in the city’s history, and it earned Jenkins a Bronze Star. It was his second award in two years.

         One officer recalled standing in a long line to submit evidence at police headquarters and watching Jenkins stomp up and down “like King Kong,” berating the other officers about not getting enough guns.

         “I got two guns,” Jenkins crowed, according to this officer. “I can get another. What the fuck are you guys doing? You’re not doing shit.”

         The officer remembered being in awe of Jenkins from afar, likening the feeling to that of watching Mark McGwire and Sammy Sosa the year they were chasing the single-season home run record: “How is he doing it? Why can’t I be like this guy?”

         Another recalled him this way: “That dude was like the messiah of drugs. You’d hear stories; people would say, ‘Bro, I’ve seen Wayne stop a junkie, flip that guy to who sold it, flip that guy to who he’s getting packs from, [up to the person who was dealing] the raw form.’ All in the course of a day. It was like goddamn, dude, that’s fucking crazy.” The same officer described a personal interaction in which Jenkins displayed his prowess: “We’re driving a pretty quick pace, and like literally, we just left the district parking lot two minutes before. He slams on the brakes. He says, ‘You see that, that guy had a stack of cash.’ He did it so quick. He throws the car in reverse…. It was like, ‘How the fuck? How the fuck did you see this?’”

         Others, however, were skeptical: “It just didn’t seem possible he could run the pace he ran and do it by the book,” one said. “If you could get away from him, you got away from him, and if it wasn’t affecting you, you just let it be.”

         The onetime stutterer who’d been called “Rudy” on the high school football team was no longer the underdog. In Jenkins’s spare time he participated in mixed martial arts, where his nickname was “Silverback” and he went 7-0 as an amateur. He won the “Battle of Baltimore” grappling title in 2009 and took thirty-eight seconds at another event to knock out his opponent in a cage-fighting match during an event called “Barbarian Fight Club.”

         “Fuck his ass up, Wayne!” a man in the crowd yelled on a video clip of the fight posted to YouTube, as Jenkins, his head completely shaved, pummeled his opponent with punches and kicks. After Jenkins was declared the victor, a young relative entered the ring wearing an American flag like a cape.

         “I saw you over here jumping up and down and screaming at the top of your lungs. What do you think about this guy’s win right now?” the ring announcer asked the boy.

         “He’s awesome!” the boy said, before being lifted in the air by Jenkins and pumping his fists.

         
            *

         

         ONE ATTORNEY WAS DETERMINED to slow Jenkins down. Richard C. B. Woods had taken on two cases in which clients vigorously disputed the account put forward by Jenkins and his fellow plainclothes officers. One was a criminal case in federal court, another a civil case in the city. The first to go forward was the criminal case.

         One drizzly afternoon in February 2008, Rodney Baylor stepped onto a woman’s front porch in Northeast Baltimore. It was about 2 P.M. on a Friday, and he was looking for some side work beyond his job cutting grass for the State Highway Administration. Baylor was providing the woman an estimate for her lawn when he heard tires screeching and a crash. He turned to see men carrying guns jump out of a blue Nissan that had just smashed into an Acura SUV as it was pulling into a parking space. One of the men started beating on the passenger side window of the SUV with his gun, shattering it, and the driver was pulled out of the car through the window.

         “I got on the ground once I’d seen all of that,” Baylor said. “I thought they were going to stick the guy up or shoot him. I didn’t see any badges or anything.”

         The men with the guns were Jenkins and a crew of officers that included Daniel Hersl. They were after Mickey Oakley, a forty-two-year-old man who, they said they’d been told, stored and sold drugs. Oakley was caught that day with four hundred gelcaps of heroin in a paper bag. The officers then took his keys and raided his apartment, where they found guns, more drugs, and packaging material. Oakley said they had made entry before obtaining a warrant; officially, Jenkins said he had entered the apartment with a warrant at 5:50 P.M.—almost four hours after the detectives swooped in on Oakley in the street. Other officers would later say Jenkins had merely tried Oakley’s keys in the door to see if they worked, and had not entered.

         Four months later Oakley was indicted on federal drug charges. Though he didn’t dispute having drugs when he was arrested, he wanted to fight the case. The officers had lied in their account of what led them to him, he claimed, and how the arrest had unfolded: Jenkins had written in a sworn affidavit that Oakley was carrying a brown paper bag, which Jenkins said he had been told by an informant would contain heroin. Oakley did have such a bag, but he asserted it was underneath his hoodie and never visible. A suspect admitting to having drugs in hopes of beating his case was all but unheard of, but that’s exactly what Oakley was doing—his own guilt, he was arguing, didn’t mean police could bypass the rules or make things up.

         Woods sought to ding Jenkins’s credibility. His clients in another case involving Jenkins claimed Jenkins had left out key facts about the circumstances of a search inside a West Baltimore bar. In this case, they had video evidence. Jenkins and his squad had detained everyone inside the bar. Although Jenkins had written that one of the men turned over his car keys, the video showed Jenkins searching him and taking the keys out of his pocket after slapping a phone out of his hands. It was perhaps a small lie, but a lie nonetheless.

         “The suspect didn’t voluntarily produce a key. It was taken out of his pockets within seconds of the police officers entering. I gave the tape to the government because I wanted them to realize there was a good faith basis for these questions,” Woods told the judge in Oakley’s case. “I think they go to the very heart of the truth of his statement of probable cause, and I think that in that particular instance, he fabricated information and included it on a sworn statement.”

         When Jenkins took the stand, he shrugged off the questions about the bar case. He said it was a simple mistake and he’d been cleared of wrongdoing by police and prosecutors in the bar case.

         “As far as you know, did they investigate you personally?” the federal prosecutor asked Jenkins.

         “Yes, ma’am.”

         “What were the results of their investigation of you?”

         “The Internal Affairs case was open and closed,” Jenkins said. The city prosecutor overseeing the narcotics units had also “cleared me of any intent-related issues,” he added.

         Woods pressed forward with trying to quiz the officers about their actions arresting Oakley, trying to get someone to slip up. The officers presented a united front, saying they hadn’t rammed Oakley’s car; rather, Oakley had reversed into them before throwing the bag of drugs out of his car window.

         Judge Catherine Blake said the claims of Oakley and Baylor didn’t “make any sense” when compared to the officers’ account.

         “It appears that not just Detective Jenkins, but virtually all the other officers … would have to be inaccurate in their testimony if it is to be believed that Detective Jenkins was manufacturing information for the affidavit,” Blake said.

         Frustrated, Oakley took a guilty plea but stood his ground at his sentencing.

         “I would like to say I’m feeling a lot of remorse for my actions I have led through my life,” Oakley said, “and I also feel kind of torn between feelings because I came forth with the truth about the incident that happened, as far as what the officers had done. I think that if I am held responsible for my actions, then the same should be with the officers for their wrongdoing.”

         Woods still had another chance at Jenkins, when the bar case went before a civil jury a year later. Two months earlier the officers’ target in the raid, Antonio Lee, had been murdered. The other bar patrons still wanted justice for the unjustified encounter. The attorney representing Jenkins and his unit told the jurors that the officers were the “best of the best,” who had “not and will not ever give up on the war on drugs.” 

         Woods delivered an impassioned rebuttal, saying that officers couldn’t do whatever they wanted in their quest to stop crime. The officers had been caught in “lie after lie after lie,” he said. “You decide if you want the elite of the elite to get a rubber stamp on constitutional deprivation. You, the citizens of Baltimore, say no. No! These constitutional rights people bled for and died for, upon which our government was founded, these liberties we hold so dear, you cannot ignore them. You cannot assume that because a man is in an impoverished neighborhood, surrounded by drugs and violence, that he is a criminal. You cannot! You cannot invade his personal space, and touch him and go in his pockets with a reasonable belief.

         “You break a man’s jaw, the bone heals. You break a man’s spirit, you take away his faith in his own liberty, his own right to express his constitutional freedom from unreasonable search and seizures, you make him feel powerless and humiliated and afraid that every police officer he sees is going to do whatever he wants.”

         The jury considered thirty-nine counts in the lawsuit and acquitted the officers of every count except one: battery, against Jenkins. Woods had asked for $250,000 to each of four plaintiffs.

         Instead, the jury awarded one dollar.

         Woods picked up his bag, tucked the verdict sheet inside, closed it, and stretched out his arms to push the bag away. He clasped his hands together, looking down. The jury had determined the encounter was simply collateral damage of the drug war.

         “They have free rein to do whatever they want now,” one of the plaintiffs said after the verdict.

         
            *

         

         GUINN HAD BEEN WORKING on the commissioner’s Gun Trace Task Force when he was tabbed for another priority initiative—a “violent repeat offender” squad tasked with building cases against high-priority targets. Jenkins was also among those selected for the detail. The two had never worked together before. Guinn said Jenkins refused to follow rules and was always going out on his own and floating between assignments.

         “I was told I wouldn’t like Wayne—that he was arrogant, a loudmouth,” Guinn recalled. “Right off the bat, I hated the guy.” 

         Also joining the new squad were Sean Suiter and Keith Gladstone. The latter, Guinn observed, “was like Wayne’s sensei.”

         The crash involving Umar Burley happened a few weeks into their new assignment, and Guinn recalls that afterward Jenkins started acting paranoid: In addition to listening to Burley’s jail calls and saying he didn’t want to testify if the case went to trial, he said he believed a car was parked outside his home, watching him. Guinn brushed it off as more high-strung behavior from Jenkins. No one in command seemed to spend too much time dwelling on Burley either, as the special unit kept making cases. In August, the new mayor, Stephanie Rawlings-Blake, held a news conference to highlight their work. Jenkins, Suiter, and Gladstone had just raided a car wash in Northwest Baltimore, where they reported seizing two pounds of cocaine, six weapons including an assault pistol, $4,000 cash, and a twenty-four-foot powerboat. At the mayor’s press conference, the drugs and weapons were spread out on a table for the media. “We’re targeting violent offenders,” the mayor told reports. “We’re getting drugs off the street.”

         Guinn had left the squad just before that big hit—he had been told from the start that his stint would be short, and he returned to the Gun Trace Task Force. But it wasn’t the same GTTF he had left. There was a new commander who was urging more street rips, which went against the unit’s original goal of selectively targeting key players in the gun-trafficking trade. The Maryland State Police and county police, not interested in having their officers roaming city neighborhoods, had also pulled their officers out of the GTTF, dropping the number of officers from fourteen to just five. The once-elite unit had lost its luster.

         
            *

         

         ONE DETECTIVE WHO WORKED with Jenkins during this time period said that when Jenkins debriefed suspects he had a particular way of asking them about who police should target next. He didn’t ask them who their supplier was or who the biggest players in town were. Instead, he asked, “If you was going to rob somebody, who would it be?” The officer figured Jenkins was just trying to speak in the vernacular, but in hindsight, the framing of the question was telling.

         In addition to being brash, Jenkins was obsessed with speculating about other cops being dirty, and insisting—without provocation—that he wasn’t.

         A peculiar incident in January 2011 raised the possibility that he was being watched. The agency’s plainclothes officers were often assigned late-model rental cars that would better blend in on the streets. Jenkins was assigned a 2010 Dodge Avenger as his departmental vehicle. Five weeks later, it suddenly shut down in the middle of the road, and Jenkins had it towed to a dealership to be fixed.

         When Jenkins called to find out why the repairs were taking so long, he was told there was damage to the electrical system caused by an after-market GPS tracking system the mechanic had found installed under the car. According to an internal report written by one of Jenkins’s supervisors at the time, the device was wallet-sized, with an antenna sticking out. The mechanic told Jenkins it had been hastily installed and the wiring job had caused electrical failures and malfunctions. Jenkins asked if it could be a LoJack-type device, installed by the rental company to track their property.

         “I’ve been doing this type of work half my life, and I’ve never seen a device like this,” the mechanic said, according to the report.

         The next morning, the mechanic would tell the officers later, a mysterious man arrived at the dealership claiming he was from the “installation department” and was there to recover the device. The man walked straight to the car, got on his knees, and removed the device. “He did not provide his name, who he worked for, or what he was going to do about the damage caused to the vehicle,” Jenkins’s supervisor wrote in an internal report at the time. “Additionally the mechanic stated that the male seemed angry that the device had been discovered. As he removed the device he attempted to conceal it in a box, then stormed out of the dealership in a hurry. The mechanic stated that it all seemed very odd as the male got back into his truck which also had a white K-9 in it.”

         An officer friendly with Jenkins at the time said Jenkins was disturbed by the episode but never found out who had installed the device or why. There was reason for Jenkins to suspect it might have been the FBI or Internal Affairs. That might have spooked most officers, but not Jenkins.
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